

# Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

Why are the 2000s so different from the 1970s? A structural interpretation of changes in the macroeconomic effects of oil prices in the US

by Olivier Blanchard and Marianna Riggi





# Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

Why are the 2000s so different from the 1970s? A structural interpretation of changes in the macroeconomic effects of oil prices in the US

by Olivier Blanchard and Marianna Riggi

Number 835 - November 2011

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Silvia Magri, Massimo Sbracia, Luisa Carpinelli, Emanuela Ciapanna, Alessandro Notarpietro, Pietro Rizza, Concetta Rondinelli, Tiziano Ropele, Andrea Silvestrini, Giordano Zevi.

Editorial Assistants: Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

## WHY ARE THE 2000s SO DIFFERENT FROM THE 1970s? A STRUCTURAL INTERPRETATION OF CHANGES IN THE MACROECONOMIC EFFECTS OF OIL PRICES IN THE US

by Olivier J. Blanchard<sup>\*</sup> and Marianna Riggi<sup>+</sup>

#### Abstract

In the 1970s, large increases in the price of oil were associated with sharp decreases in output and large increases in inflation. In the 2000s, even larger increases in the price of oil were associated with much milder movements in output and inflation. Using a structural VAR approach, Blanchard and Gali (2009) argued that this reflected a change in the causal relation from the price of oil to output and inflation. They then argued that this change could be due to a combination of three factors, namely, a smaller share of oil in production and consumption, lower real wage rigidity and better monetary policy. Their argument, based on simulations of a simple new-Keynesian model, was informal. Our purpose in this paper is to take the next step, and to estimate the explanatory power and contribution of each of these factors. To do so, we use a minimum distance estimator that minimizes, over the set of structural parameters and for each of two samples (pre- and post-1984), the distance between the empirical SVAR-based impulse response functions and those implied by a new-Keynesian model. Our empirical results point to an important role for all three factors.

Contonte

#### JEL Classification: E20, E32, E52.

Keywords: oil prices, wage rigidities, monetary policy credibility.

Contents	
Introduction	. 5
1. Impulse responses	. 6
2. A model	. 7
2.1 Oil in production and in consumption	. 8
2.2 Households	. 8
2.3 Firms	. 9
2.4 Consumption, output, employment and GDP	10
2.5 Monetary policy	11
2.6 Equilibrium absent nominal rigidities	12
2.7 Equilibrium with nominal rigidities	13
3 Estimation of the benchmark	14
3.1 Benchmark parameters	15
4. Robustness and extensions	19
4.1 Leontief technology	19
4.2 Variable desired mark-ups	20
5. Concluding remarks	21
Appendix A	23
Appendix B	24
Appendix C	25
Appendix D	27
Appendix E	28
References	29
Figures	33

# Introduction<sup>1</sup>

In the 1970s, large increases in the price of oil were associated with sharp decreases in output and large increases in inflation. In the 2000s, even larger increases in the price of oil were associated with much milder movements in output and inflation.<sup>2</sup> Our goal in this paper is to explore what can be learned from these changes about shifts in the underlying structure of the economy.

Using a structural VAR approach, Blanchard and Gali (2009) (BG in what follows) estimated impulse response functions (IRFs) for the United States, both for the pre-1984 and the post-1984 periods, and concluded that the post-1984 effects of the price of oil on either output or the price level were roughly equal to one third of those for the pre-1984 period.

They then explored informally the potential role of three factors in accounting for the change: a smaller share of oil in production and consumption, lower real wage rigidity and better monetary policy. Using a calibrated new-Keynesian model, they concluded that, in combination, these factors could potentially explain the change. They did not, however, estimate the model, nor, except for documenting the decrease in the share of oil in production and consumption, did they estimate the change in the relevant parameters. This is the natural next step and this is what we do in this paper.

We first re-estimate the BG VAR, extended to include the nominal interest rate, an important variable if we are to look at the role of monetary policy. We maintain the same identification assumptions and thus interpret the IRFs from the estimated model as causal, from the oil price to other variables. We then write down a standard new-Keynesian model, extended to allow for imported oil used both in production and consumption, for real wage rigidities and for imperfect credibility of monetary policy. Finally, we use a minimum distance estimator that minimizes, over the set of structural parameters and for each of the two samples, the distance between the empirical IRFs and those implied by the model.

Like BG, we document the decrease in the share of oil in production and consumption,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We thank Fabio Busetti, Efrem Castelnuovo, Giuseppe Ciccarone, Carlo Favero, Jordi Gali, Stefano Giglio, Tommaso Monacelli, Luca Sala and Massimiliano Tancioni for helpful comments and suggestions. The views expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the IMF and the Bank of Italy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>While the large increase in the price of oil in 2008 may have played a role in the current crisis, it is clear that the sharp drop in output since then is due primarily to factors other than oil. Using data for 2008 on would give an unduly large role to the price of oil in decreasing output. For this reason, we terminate our sample at the end of 2007.

and use this information directly to calibrate the relevant parameters of the models. Turning to estimated parameters, we find a central role for both vanishing real wage rigidities and improved credibility of monetary policy.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 1 gives the empirical IRFs. Section 2 presents the model. Section 3 discusses the results of estimation. Section 4 explores a number of extensions. Section 5 concludes.

# 1 Impulse responses

We follow BG in the specification of the structural VAR. We look at the joint behaviour of GDP, employment, the nominal wage, the GDP deflator, the CPI and the real price of oil, to which we add, however, given the focus on the potential role of monetary policy, the federal funds rate. The VAR is estimated using quarterly data, over two different samples, 1960:1-1983:4 for the first, and 1984:1-2007:4 for the second. We refer the reader to Appendix A for additional estimation details. We simply note here that by estimating a linear model we implicitly ignore the potentially asymmetric effects of oil price increases and decreases explored by, for example, Mork (1989) or Hamilton (1996) and (2003).

We maintain BG's identification assumption that unexpected changes in the price of oil are exogenous relative to contemporaneous movements in the other variables in the VAR. (Unlike BG, and to align the VAR with the theoretical model, we take oil price shocks to be the unexpected changes in the real price of oil, that is the nominal price divided by the GDP deflator, rather unexpected changes in the dollar price; this makes little difference to the results, however). Like any identification assumption, this one can be and has been challenged (for example, see Barsky and Kilian 2001, Kilian 2009, Lippi and Nobili 2011). While we refer the reader to the discussion in BG, we give two arguments in its defence. The first is that the shape of the estimated IRFs is mostly determined by the dynamic effects of the large shocks of the 1970s and the 2000s. There is wide agreement that the large increases of the 1970s were due to shifts in the supply of oil (Bruno and Sachs 1985 and Hamilton 1983, 1985, 2003). There is also wide agreement that the large increases of the 2000s were due to shifts in the demand from emerging market countries, especially China. While these shocks may have affected the United States through other channels than the oil price (for example, high Chinese growth leading both to an increase in the world oil price and an increase in Chinese imports from the United States), we also find the assumption plausible that the direct effects of the oil price dominated these other channels.

The IRFs for each of the two samples are shown in Figure 1. They are shown for the first twenty quarters. The centred lines in each case give the estimated impulse responses of each variable, in levels, to a positive shock to a price of oil of 10 per cent. The upper and lower lines give one-standard deviation bands, obtained through Monte Carlo simulations. In both samples, the real price of oil shows a near-random walk response, i.e. it jumps on impact and then stays around a new plateau.

We see the IRFs as having the following main characteristics, which one would like a model to fit.

There are slowly building and long-lasting effects on activity and price variables in the two samples. The responses of GDP and employment are considerably more muted in the second than in the first sample (roughly 1/3). Similarly, the effect on the GDP deflator and the CPI is much smaller in the second than in the first sample (roughly 1/3). No significant effect is detected on nominal wages in the second sample, compared with a strong and significant effect in the first sample. Finally, the strength of the response of the federal funds rate has not changed much across sample periods and, in both samples, the response is hump-shaped, positive and significant for the first four quarters.

# 2 A model

The model we develop to interpret these IRFs and recover structural parameters is a standard new-Keynesian model, except for four extensions, each needed for our purposes.

First, we allow for the use of oil as an input in both production and consumption. We assume that the country is an oil importer, and takes the real price of oil (in terms of domestic goods) as exogenous. Second, we allow for habit formation in consumption. This is done in order to capture the first characteristic of the data listed in the previous section, namely the slow adjustment of output and employment over time. In the model, output is determined by demand and equal to consumption, and habit formation leads to a slow adjustment of consumption. Third, we allow for real wage rigidity, one of the potential factors emphasized by BG. We formalize it as a slow adjustment of the real wage at which workers are willing to work to their marginal rate of substitution. Fourth, to capture the notion of policy credibility, we allow agents' inflation expectations to depend partly on model consistent expectations and partly on current inflation. The smaller the dependence on current inflation, the better anchored are inflation expectations and the more favorable is the trade-off between inflation and output.

The rest of the section presents only the implied log-linearized equations, leaving the

full derivation to the appendix. Lower case letters represent deviations from steady state, lower case letters with a hat are proportional deviations from steady state.

## 2.1 Oil in production and in consumption

Production is characterized by a Cobb-Douglas production function in labour and oil:

$$\widehat{q}_t = \alpha_n \ \widehat{n}_t + \alpha_m \ \widehat{m}_t \tag{1}$$

where  $\hat{q}_t$  is (gross) domestic product,  $\hat{n}_t$  is labour,  $\hat{m}_t$  is the quantity of imported oil used in production,  $\alpha_n + \alpha_m \leq 1$ . Technological progress does not affect the IRF to oil and can thus be ignored here.

Consumption is characterized by a Cobb-Douglas consumption function in output and oil:

$$\widehat{c}_t = (1 - \chi)\widehat{c}_{q,t} + \chi\widehat{c}_{m,t} \tag{2}$$

where  $\hat{c}_t$  is consumption,  $\hat{c}_{q,t}$  is consumption of the domestically produced good,  $\hat{c}_{m,t}$  is consumption of imported oil.

In this environment, it is important to distinguish between two prices, the price of domestic output  $\hat{p}_{q,t}$  and the price of consumption  $\hat{p}_{c,t}$ . Let  $\hat{p}_{m,t}$  be the price of oil and  $\hat{s}_t \equiv \hat{p}_{m,t} - \hat{p}_{q,t}$  be the real price of oil, which is assumed to follow a first-order autoregressive process, where  $\rho_s$  is the autoregressive parameter. From the definition of consumption, the relation between the consumption price and the domestic output price is given by:

$$\widehat{p}_{c,t} = \widehat{p}_{q,t} + \chi \ \widehat{s}_t \tag{3}$$

The important parameters for our purposes are  $\alpha_m$  and  $\chi$ , the shares of oil in production and in consumption.

## 2.2 Households

The behaviour of households is characterized by two equations. The first one characterizes consumption:

$$\widehat{c}_{t} = \frac{h}{1+h}\widehat{c}_{t-1} + \frac{1}{1+h}E_{t}\widehat{c}_{t+1} - \frac{(1-h)}{(1+h)\sigma}\left(i_{t} - \widehat{\pi}^{e}_{c,t+1} + \log\beta\right)$$
(4)

Consumption depends on itself lagged, itself expected, and on the real interest rate in terms of consumption. The parameter  $\sigma$  is the household risk aversion coefficient; together with h, it determines the response of consumption to the real interest rate. The parameter  $h \in [0, 1)$  captures habit formation (the utility of consumption depends on C - hC(-1), where C is current consumption, and C(-1) is lagged aggregate consumption). The higher the value of h, the slower the adjustment of the consumption; when h = 0, the relation reduces to the usual Euler equation.

The second equation characterizes labour supply, or equivalently, the real consumption wage at which workers are willing to work (the "supply wage"):

$$\widehat{w}_t - \widehat{p}_{c,t} = \gamma \left( \widehat{w}_{t-1} - \widehat{p}_{c,t-1} \right) + (1 - \gamma) \left\{ \phi \widehat{n}_t + \frac{\sigma}{1 - h} \left[ \widehat{c}_t - h \widehat{c}_{t-1} \right] \right\}$$
(5)

where  $\widehat{w}_t$  denotes the nominal wage. The supply wage depends on itself lagged and on the marginal rate of substitution. The marginal rate of substitution depends in turn on employment, with elasticity  $\phi$ , where  $\phi$  is the inverse of the Frisch elasticity, and on  $\widehat{c}_t - h\widehat{c}_{t-1}$ , with elasticity  $\sigma/(1-h)$ . The parameter  $\gamma \in [0,1)$  captures the extent of real wage rigidity, which is needed in order to generate a meaningful trade-off between stabilization of inflation and stabilization of the welfare relevant output gap (Blanchard and Gali, 2007).<sup>3</sup> When  $\gamma = 0$ , the supply wage is equal to the marginal rate of substitution. The higher the value of  $\gamma$ , the higher the degree of real wage rigidity.

## 2.3 Firms

Domestic goods are imperfect substitutes in consumption and firms are thus monopolistic competitors. Given the production function, cost minimization implies that the firms' demand for oil is given by:

$$\widehat{m}_t = -\widehat{\mu}_t - \widehat{s}_t + \widehat{q}_t \tag{6}$$

where  $\hat{\mu}_t$  is the log deviation of the price mark-up,  $\mathcal{M}_t$ . Using this expression to eliminate  $m_t$  in the production function gives a reduced-form production function:

$$\widehat{q}_t = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha_m} \left( \alpha_n \widehat{n}_t - \alpha_m \widehat{s}_t - \alpha_m \widehat{\mu}_t \right) \tag{7}$$

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ When the degree of real wage rigidities is positive, the wedge between the efficient and the natural level of output (where the latter is defined as the level obtained absent nominal rigidities) fluctuates in response to the oil shock and the central bank faces a trade-off between stabilizing inflation and the welfare relevant output gap.

Given employment, output is a decreasing function of the real price of oil.

Combining the cost minimization conditions for oil and for labour with the aggregate production function yields the following factor price frontier:

$$(1 - \alpha_m) \left(\widehat{w}_t - \widehat{p}_{c,t}\right) + \left(\alpha_m + (1 - \alpha_m)\chi\right) \widehat{s}_t + (1 - \alpha_n - \alpha_m) \widehat{n}_t + \widehat{\mu}_t = 0$$
(8)

Given productivity, an increase in the real price of oil must lead to one or more of the following adjustments: (i) a lower consumption wage, (ii) lower employment, or (iii) a lower mark-up.

This equation defines, for a given mark-up, the real consumption wage consistent with a given level of employment; we can think of it as giving us the "demand wage" as a function of employment. This will be useful below.

Firms are assumed to set prices à la Calvo (1983), an assumption which yields the following log-linearized equation for domestic output price inflation (domestic inflation for short):

$$\widehat{\pi}_{q,t} = \beta \widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1}^e - \lambda_p \,\widehat{\mu}_t \tag{9}$$

where  $\lambda_p \equiv [(1 - \theta)(1 - \beta\theta)/\theta][(\alpha_m + \alpha_n)/(1 + (1 - \alpha_m - \alpha_n)(\epsilon - 1))]$ ,  $\theta$  denotes the fraction of firms that leave prices unchanged during a given period,  $\beta$  is the discount factor of households and  $\epsilon$  is the elasticity of substitution between domestic goods in consumption. A low mark-up leads firms to want to increase prices and leads to more inflation, given expected future inflation.

## 2.4 Consumption, output, employment and GDP

The condition that trade be balanced (as oil is imported) gives us a relation between consumption and output:

$$\widehat{c}_t = \widehat{q}_t - \chi \widehat{s}_t - \eta \widehat{\mu}_t \tag{10}$$

where  $\eta \equiv \alpha_m / (\mathcal{M} - \alpha_m)$ .

Using the reduced-form production function (7) gives a relation between consumption and employment:

$$\widehat{c}_t = \frac{\alpha_n}{1 - \alpha_m} \widehat{n}_t - \left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_m}{1 - \alpha_m}\right) \ \widehat{s}_t + \left(\eta - \frac{\alpha_m}{1 - \alpha_m}\right) \ \widehat{\mu}_t \tag{11}$$

The characterization of the equilibrium does not require us to introduce either value

added or the value added deflator. But these are needed to compare the implications of the model to the data.

The value added deflator  $p_{y,t}$  is implicitly defined by  $\hat{p}_{q,t} = (1 - \alpha_m)\hat{p}_{y,t} + \alpha_m \hat{p}_{m,t}$ . Rearranging terms gives:

$$\widehat{p}_{y,t} = \widehat{p}_{q,t} - \frac{\alpha_m}{1 - \alpha_m} \,\widehat{s}_t \tag{12}$$

thus implying a negative effect of the real price of oil on the GDP deflator, given domestic output prices.

The definition of value added, combined with the demand for oil, yields the following relation between GDP and gross output:

$$\widehat{y}_t = \widehat{q}_t + \frac{\alpha_m}{1 - \alpha_m} \,\widehat{s}_t + \eta \,\widehat{\mu}_t \tag{13}$$

## 2.5 Monetary policy

Monetary policy is characterized by a Taylor rule in which the interest rate responds to the deviation of the core CPI inflation from a zero target inflation and to the welfare relevant output gap  $(\hat{x}^f)$ , defined as the wedge between the actual and the efficient level of output<sup>4</sup> (see Appendix C for derivation):

$$i_t = \rho_i i_{t-1} + (1 - \rho_i) \left( -\log\beta + \phi_\pi \widehat{\pi}_{q,t} + \phi_x \widehat{x}_t^f \right)$$

$$\tag{14}$$

where the intercept  $-\log \beta$  makes the rule consistent with a zero inflation steady state and the parameter  $\rho_i \in [0, 1)$  captures the degree of smoothing of the interest rate by the central bank.

To analyse the potential role of credibility, we allow expectations of agents to depend directly on current inflation:

$$\widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1}^e = (1-\lambda)\,\widehat{\pi}_{q,t} + \lambda E_t \widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1} \tag{15}$$

We interpret the parameter  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$  as capturing the credibility of monetary policy. The lower  $\lambda$ , the less credible is monetary policy, the worse the anchoring of inflation expectations and the worse the implied trade-off between inflation and output. Equation (15) captures the idea that, when credibility is low, the central bank is unable to establish

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In a model with real wage rigidities, the natural level of output may move a lot with respect to oil price changes. The welfare relevant level of output moves much less, looks like a smooth time trend and appears to be (and should be) what the Fed looks at.

an anchor for inflation expectations, which thus turn out to be strongly connected with actual inflation dynamics.

The shortcut aims at conveying the intuition that when credibility is low, inflation expectations may increase more than the model-consistent ones because of the destabilizing effect through current headline inflation.<sup>5</sup>

Agents understand the static relationship between  $\hat{p}_{c,t}$  and  $\hat{p}_{q,t}$ , given by equation (3). Accordingly we have:

$$\widehat{\pi}_{c,t+1}^e = \widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1}^e + \chi E_t \left( \widehat{s}_{t+1} - \widehat{s}_t \right) \tag{16}$$

### 2.6 Equilibrium absent nominal rigidities

Absent nominal rigidities, the firms' mark-up would be constant, and the evolution of the economy would be characterized by the condition that the supply wage, implied by equations (5) and (11), be equal to the demand wage, implied by equation (8) with  $\hat{\mu}_t \equiv 0$ . That condition would determine employment and, in turn, output, consumption, and GDP:

$$\widehat{n}_t = \Gamma_1 \widehat{s}_t + \Gamma_2 \widehat{s}_{t-1} + \Gamma_3 \widehat{n}_{t-1} \tag{17}$$

where

$$\Gamma_{1} \equiv \frac{[\sigma (1 - \gamma) - (1 - h)] [\alpha_{m} + \chi (1 - \alpha_{m})]}{\phi (1 - \gamma) (1 - h) (1 - \alpha_{m}) + \sigma \alpha_{n} (1 - \gamma) + (1 - h) (1 - \alpha_{m} - \alpha_{n})}$$

$$\Gamma_{2} \equiv \frac{[(1 - h)\gamma - \sigma h (1 - \gamma)] [\alpha_{m} + \chi (1 - \alpha_{m})]}{\phi (1 - \gamma) (1 - h) (1 - \alpha_{m}) + \sigma \alpha_{n} (1 - \gamma) + (1 - h) (1 - \alpha_{m} - \alpha_{n})}$$

$$\Gamma_{3} \equiv \frac{\gamma (1 - \alpha_{m} - \alpha_{n}) (1 - h) + \sigma h \alpha_{n} (1 - \gamma)}{\phi (1 - \gamma) (1 - h) (1 - \alpha_{m}) + \sigma \alpha_{n} (1 - \gamma) + (1 - h) (1 - \alpha_{m} - \alpha_{n})}$$

Two results will be useful for the interpretation of the estimation results below. First,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Others have used this modelling device. Gurkaynak, Sack, and Swanson (2005) use a new-Keynesian model in which the long-term inflation expectations exhibit some degree of loading on the recent history of inflation. They show that the model is consistent with the sensitivity of forward rates to economic news observed in data, a sensitivity which is too large to be consistent with the standard assumption of perfectly anchored long-run inflation expectations. Gurkaynak, Levin and Swanson (2010) take the sensitivity of inflation expectations to incoming economic news as a measure of the central bank's (in)ability to anchor private sector expectations.

the sign of the long-run effects of an increase in the price of oil on employment depends on whether  $\sigma$  is less or greater than one. The reason is the same as in the familiar case of technological progress. A higher price of oil implies a lower real consumption wage and thus a decrease in labour supply. It also implies a decrease in consumption, thus a negative wealth effect, and an increase in labour supply. For  $\sigma = 1$ , the substitution and wealth effects cancel and employment is constant. If  $\sigma < 1$ , then the substitution effect dominates and employment decreases. If  $\sigma > 1$ , then employment increases. As the model implies that the economy returns over time to its equilibrium absent nominal rigidities, the fact that the IRFs show long-lasting effects will lead to estimated values of  $\sigma$  smaller than one.

Second, the sign of the short-run effects of an increase in the price of oil on employment depends on the sign of  $(1 - h)/[\sigma(1 - \gamma)] - 1$ . If, for example,  $\sigma = 1$  so there is no long-run effect, the sign depends on  $h - \gamma$ . The higher the degree of real wage rigidity, the more likely employment is to decrease in the short run; the higher the degree of habit formation, the stronger the wealth effect and the more likely employment is to increase in the short run.

## 2.7 Equilibrium with nominal rigidities

In the presence of nominal rigidities, aggregate demand (here consumption demand), equation (4), determines output and employment. The supply wage, given by equations (5) and (11), together with the factor price frontier, equation (8), determine the mark-up of firms. The mark-up then determines inflation through equation (9).

Monetary policy, given by equation (14), determines the interest rate and thus affects consumption, output and employment. If monetary policy maintains a level of employment equal to that which is obtained absent nominal rigidities, inflation, measured using the output price, is constant. If it tries to maintain higher employment, then inflation is higher.<sup>6</sup>

The coefficients associated with nominal rigidities and with monetary policy play the following role. A lower value of  $\theta$  (i.e. lower nominal rigidity) leads to a stronger effect of a given decrease in the mark-up on inflation. Thus, for a given policy rule, it leads to a larger initial increase in inflation and a larger initial decline in output. A lower value of  $\lambda$  (i.e. lower credibility) leads to a worse trade-off between stabilization of quantities and stabilization of prices in response to oil price shocks. Credibility gains, captured by

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ In Appendix D we derive the representation of inflation dynamics in terms of the gap between actual and natural output.

a higher  $\lambda$ , improve the trade-off facing policy-makers and make it possible to have a smaller impact of a given oil price increase on both inflation and output. A higher value of  $\phi_{\pi}$  leads to a smaller increase in inflation, but at the expense of a larger decrease in output. Conversely, a higher value of  $\phi_x$  captures a more accommodative monetary policy and leads to a lower drop in output, but at the expense of a larger increase in inflation. A higher value of  $\rho_i$  (i.e. more interest rate inertia) attenuates or amplifies the economy's response to the oil shock, depending on the degree of central bank credibility  $\lambda$ . When credibility is high (high  $\lambda$ ), small variations in the interest rate which are expected to be followed by further changes in the same direction have a strong effect on demand and output (Woodford 2003a). When credibility is low, a large contemporaneous response of the policy rate is more effective at stabilizing the economy than highly persistent low-amplitude variations. Figure 2 shows the effects of a higher degree of interest rate smoothing  $\rho_i$  under the two limiting cases of  $\lambda = 0$  (Figure 2a) and  $\lambda = 1$  (Figure 2b), for a given calibration of the other parameters.

# **3** Estimation of the benchmark

Call X the vector composed of the 15 parameters of the model. Let  $\Psi(X)$  be the set of impulse responses of  $\hat{p}_{c,t}$ ,  $\hat{p}_{y,t}$ ,  $\hat{w}_t$ ,  $\hat{y}_t$ ,  $\hat{n}_t$  and  $i_t$  over the first 20 quarters to an increase in the price of oil implied by X and let  $\hat{\Psi}$  be the estimated IRFs presented in Figure 1. The minimum distance estimator of X we use is given by<sup>7</sup>

$$X = \operatorname{argmin}[\widehat{\Psi} - \Psi(X)]' D^{-1}[\widehat{\Psi} - \Psi(X)]$$
(18)

where D is a diagonal matrix, with the sample variances of the  $\widehat{\Psi}$  along the diagonal (so that the more tightly estimated IRFs get more weight in estimation)<sup>8</sup> and X is given by  $X \equiv (\alpha_n, \alpha_m, \beta, \chi, \phi, \sigma, \epsilon, h, \gamma, \theta, \phi_\pi, \phi_x, \lambda, \rho_i, \rho_s)$ . We estimate X separately for each of the two samples, 1960:1 to 1983:4, and 1984:1 to 2007:3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This is the same estimator as used for example by Christiano at al. (2005), Boivin and Giannoni (2006) and Kuester (2010) in the context of monetary policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>While the parallel to the efficient GMM estimation would suggest using the complete impulse responses' variance-covariance matrix, the use of the diagonal matrix with impulse response's variance on the main diagonal has become standard in the literature on impulse response matching (e.g. Christiano at al. 2005, Boivin and Giannoni 2006, Kuester 2010 and Pagan 2007 for the motivations). The diagonal matrix accounts for the fact that some points of the impulse response functions are less precisely estimated than others, giving higher priority to those point estimates that have smaller standard deviations. However, because impulse responses are correlated across horizons, this set-up over-represents the amount of information present in the data to identify the model's deep parameters.

The rationale for using a limited information method, in this case a subset of IRFs implied by the model, is that we have more confidence in the estimated IRFs to oil shocks than, say, to unobservable taste shocks. The rationale for not using a Bayesian prior is to make clear what is learned from the data. Estimating all 15 parameters, however, would be asking too much of the data. Thus, a number of coefficients are chosen a priori, rather than estimated.

The coefficients capturing the role of oil in production and in consumption,  $\alpha_m$  and  $\chi$ , can be constructed directly by using IO tables. Following the computations in BG, we choose  $\alpha_m = 1.5$  per cent and  $\chi = 2.3$  per cent for the first sample,  $\alpha_m = 1.2$  per cent and  $\chi = 1.7$  per cent for the second sample. The way in which these shares affect the outcome is through the expression  $\alpha_m + (1 - \alpha_m)\chi$  (as can be seen by looking at the term in  $\hat{s}$  in the factor price frontier, (8)). So these numbers imply that, other things equal, the effect of a given increase in the price of oil in the second sample is only 3/4 of the effect in first sample. We assume that, in the short run, firms have enough capital capacity that they operate under constant returns to labour and oil, so  $\alpha_n = 1 - \alpha_m$ . We calibrate the autoregressive parameter of the oil shock  $\rho_s = 0.999$  in order to have the price of oil very close to random walk, as it is in the data, while retaining stationarity. With respect to preferences, we assume  $\beta = 0.99$ ,  $\epsilon = 6.0$  (so that the desired mark-up of firms over marginal cost is 20 per cent), the (inverse of the) Frisch elasticity  $\phi = 1.0$  and h = 0.8, which is consistent with the estimates by Primiceri et al. (2006) and Gertler et al. (2008) (among many others). Given the long-lasting effects of the price of oil in the IRFs, we do not impose long-run neutrality ( $\sigma = 1$ ) and allow for  $\sigma$  to be estimated.

This leaves seven parameters to be estimated,  $\sigma$  for preferences,  $\gamma$  for real wage rigidity,  $\theta$  for nominal price rigidity and  $\phi_{\pi}$ ,  $\phi_x \rho_i$  and  $\lambda$  for monetary policy. We restrict these parameters to lie within the bounds implied by the theory, [0, 1] for  $\gamma$ ,  $\lambda$ ,  $\theta$  and  $\rho_i$ ,  $[0, +\infty)$ for the others.

### **3.1** Benchmark parameters

The results of estimation of the benchmark are shown in Table 1. The last row gives the minimized value of the distance function. The implied and actual IRFs are shown in Figure 3. Standard errors are reported in parentheses.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>In order to pick out the global, rather than local, minimum the algorithm is implemented by starting the chain from different initial points. Note that when parameters are on the boundary of the parameter space, the asymptotic delta function method cannot be computed as it requires a Taylor series expansion, which is inappropriate at the boundary. Some authors adopt a pragmatic approach by reporting standard deviations only for parameters which do not hit the boundary of the parameter space (e.g. Boivin and

	Pre-1984	Post-1984
$\sigma$ Risk aversion	$\underset{(0.15)}{0.39}$	$\underset{(0.04)}{0.26}$
$\gamma$ Real wage rigidity	$\underset{(0.05)}{0.97}$	0.00* (0.17)
$\theta$ Price stickiness	$\underset{(0.05)}{0.96}$	$\underset{(0.09)}{0.59}$
$\phi_{\pi}$ Taylor coefficient on inflation	$\underset{(1.02)}{1.33}$	$\underset{(0.48)}{1.08}$
$\phi_x$ Taylor coefficient on output gap	$0.00^{*}_{(0.25)}$	$0.00^{*}$ (2.14)
$\rho_i$ Policy inertia	$\underset{(0.17)}{0.49}$	$\underset{(0.18)}{0.54}$
$\lambda$ Central bank credibility	0.00* (0.32)	$1.00^{*}_{(0.18)}$
Distance function	118.89	83.81

 Table 1

 Benchmark estimated parameters

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. Stars indicate that the estimated coefficient is equal to one of the bounds.

The model provides a good fit of the impulse responses in both samples, capturing the main characteristics listed in Section 1. The implied IRFs are typically within the one-standard deviation bands.<sup>10</sup> A number of estimated coefficients are constrained by natural bounds. The fact that we hit a number of bounds may suggest that the model is misspecified and that ignoring the bounds would result in very different parameters. In order to explore this possibility, Figure 4 shows the shape of the (negative of the) distance function in the neighbourhood of the vector of estimated parameters by varying two crucial parameters at a time within the range in the horizontal axes, keeping the others at their "true" values.<sup>11</sup> The objective function displays enough curvature in all dimensions, excluding weak identification, and is typically fairly flat when hitting the bounds, suggesting that the bounds do not do violence to the fit of the model. We draw the following conclusions.

Giannoni 2006). We compute standard deviations by bootstrapping. Despite Andrews (2000) warning that, for parameters at the boundary of the parameter space, the bootstrapped standard deviations are not asymptotically correct, we report them for completeness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The distribution of the distance function is unknown. Thus, in order to assess the goodness of fit, we use a bootstrap methodology to compute the empirical probability density function. The null hypothesis that the value attained by the distance function is statistically equal to zero is accepted at the 5 per cent significance level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>This is one of the diagnostic tests proposed by Canova and Sala (2009).

The low estimate of  $\sigma$  in both samples implies a negative long-run effect of an increase in the price of oil on employment. And given the value of h = 0.8, it implies a short run consumption's semi-elasticity to the real interest rate  $(1 - h)/[(1 + h)\sigma]$  equal to 0.28 in the pre-1984 sample and 0.43 in the post-1984 sample.

The estimate of the degree of real wage rigidity  $\gamma$  decreases from 0.97 in the pre-1984 sample to 0 (the lower bound) in the post-1984 sample. Using the terminology often used by central banks, this can be described as strong "second-round" effects pre-1984, and weak or non-existent ones post-1984. Faced with similar initial increases in the CPI (the "first round" effects), and for given employment, workers in the 1970s asked for and obtained increases in nominal wages, which then led to higher prices, confronting the central bank with a worse trade-off between activity and inflation. In the 2000s, the same initial increases in the CPI did not lead to increases in nominal wages and thus did not lead to further increases in prices. The strong decrease in real wage rigidities implies a strong decrease in inflation persistence,<sup>12</sup> in line with the empirical evidence detected by Stock and Watson (2007), Benati and Surico (2008) and Cogley, Primiceri and Sargent (2010).

The estimate of  $\lambda$ , which captures the credibility of monetary policy, increases from the lower bound, 0, in the pre-1984 sample to the upper bound, 1, in the post-1984 sample, suggesting a strong increase in central bank credibility, a strong improvement in the anchoring of inflation expectations and a much more favourable short-run trade-off between inflation and activity.

The interest rate appears to respond to inflation, not to activity. The coefficient on the welfare relevant output-gap  $\phi_x$  is equal to its lower bound, 0, in both samples. The coefficient on inflation  $\phi_{\pi}$  is equal to 1.33 in the pre-1984 sample and to 1.08 in the post-1984 sample.<sup>13</sup> While the strength of the response of the nominal interest rate has not changed much across sample periods, the weaker response of expected inflation due to enhanced credibility implies, however, that the response of the real interest rate to an oil price shock has become much stronger over time. Figure 5 shows that in the 1970s

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>As shown by Blanchard and Gali (2007) real wage rigidities imply an inertial behaviour of inflation, as any change in the marginal rate of substitution affects the real wage and hence inflation only gradually. The Phillips curve can be rewritten as in equation (47) in Appendix D, where, taking into account that  $\eta(1-\alpha_m)-\alpha_m \simeq 0$ , the coefficient on the lagged level of inflation is positive conditional on having  $\gamma > 0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>We have explored the robustness of our results when monetary policy reacts to the cyclical component of output constructed as the log deviation from steady state, rather than to the welfare relevant output gap. For pre-1984 we get the same set of parameters shown in Table 1. For post-1984 we get:  $\sigma = 0.21$ ,  $\gamma = 0, \theta = 0.56, \phi_{\pi} = 1.39, \lambda = 1, \phi_y = 0.02, \rho_i = 0.72$ , yielding a value of the distance function of 76.07.

the real interest rate declined remarkably on impact,<sup>14</sup> while it has increased in the more recent decades.

The estimate of  $\rho_i$  is equal to 0.49 in the pre-1984 sample. It increases to 0.54 in the post-1984 subsample. As we argued earlier, such an increase interacts with increased credibility to lead to a more favourable policy trade-off.

The estimate of the degree of nominal price rigidity  $\theta$  decreases over time (from 0.96 to 0.59). This is the one change that runs against our (and we expect, most economists') priors. First, as inflation has decreased over time, one would expect price setters to change prices less often. Second, a number of recent papers find a flatter Phillips curve characterizing the Great Moderation, which suggests a slower price adjustment in the post-1984 period. Indeed, if present, the lower degree of nominal price rigidities may come as a consequence of the higher competition, forcing firms to adjust prices more often.

In short, the estimated coefficients point to both lower real wage rigidity and better anchoring of inflation expectations as the main two factors behind the change in the response of the economy to oil shocks. The other factor appears to be a lower nominal price rigidity.

While we focus on the effect of credibility on  $\lambda$ , it may well be that higher credibility also affects other coefficients. For example, the lower degree of real wage rigidities may have been driven in part by the better anchoring of inflation expectations. The fall in inflation persistence, predicted in the model by the drop in real wage rigidities, may have come, in turn, as a result of the higher credibility.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The drop in the real rate prior to 1984 is consistent with the direct evidence provided by BG, using a bivariate rolling VAR. This result is also in line with the unconditional evidence in Clarida et. al (2000), who show that pre-1979 the real rate declines as inflation rises. Note that in estimation we impose that the Blanchard and Kahn (1980) conditions hold, so we exclude the possibility of indeterminacy, a route that has been explored by others. However, in the presence of policy inertia, determinacy does not rule out a negative response on impact of the real rate, as long as the *eventual* increase in the nominal interest rate, as a result of a sustained increase in the inflation rate, is more than one for one (Woodford 2003b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Erceg and Levin (2003) explore the link between imperfect monetary policy credibility and inflation persistence and show that the lack of policy credibility, modelled as private agents' limited information about the central bank's objectives, may lead to a strong degree of inflation persistence.

# 4 Robustness and extensions

## 4.1 Leontief technology

The Cobb-Douglas production function implies a unit elasticity between oil and labour, that surely overestimates this elasticity in the short run. For this reason, we explore a model with a Leontief production, where labour and oil are combined in fixed proportions. The production function is given by:

$$\widehat{q}_t = \widehat{n}_t = \widehat{m}_t \tag{19}$$

Consumption is still characterized by the Cobb-Douglas function in output and oil (2) and the relation between the consumption price and the domestic output price is still given by equation (3). The Euler equation (4) and the supply wage (5) therefore continue to characterize the behaviour of households. Real marginal cost is given by:

$$\widehat{mc}_t = \alpha_n \left( \widehat{w}_t - \widehat{p}_{q,t} \right) + \alpha_m \widehat{s}_t \tag{20}$$

As before, we follow the formalism proposed in Calvo (1983) and assume that in each period a measure  $(1 - \theta)$  of firms reset their prices. This yields the following equation for domestic inflation:

$$\widehat{\pi}_{q,t} = \beta \widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1}^e + \frac{(1-\theta)(1-\beta\theta)}{\theta} \ \widehat{mc}_t$$
(21)

With balanced trade the following relation must hold:

$$\widehat{c}_t = \widehat{q}_t - \left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_m}{\mathcal{M} - \alpha_m}\right)\widehat{s}_t \tag{22}$$

The specification of technology implies a relation between value added and gross output:

$$\widehat{y}_t = \widehat{q}_t \tag{23}$$

while the value added deflator is given by:

$$\widehat{p}_{y,t} = \widehat{w}_t \tag{24}$$

Inflation expectations are still given by (15) and (16) and monetary policy is still

described by (14).<sup>16</sup>

Table 2 reports the estimated parameters. Results are robust to the change in the specification of technology: vanishing real wage rigidities and the improvement in the anchoring of expectations remain the driving forces behind the drop in macroeconomic volatility after the oil shock. As before, nominal price rigidity is estimated to have decreased over time. Figure 6 displays estimated and implied IRFs.

Table 2						
Estimated parameters under a leontief technology						
	Pre-1984	Post-1984				
$\sigma$ Risk aversion	0.42 (0.18)	$\underset{(0.05)}{0.36}$				
$\gamma$ Real wage Rigidity	$\underset{(0.01)}{0.97}$	$0.00 \ * \\ _{(0.25)}$				
$\theta$ Price stickiness	$\underset{(0.05)}{0.96}$	$\underset{(0.08)}{0.71}$				
$\phi_\pi$ Taylor coefficient on inflation	$\underset{(1.08)}{1.33}$	$\underset{(0.93)}{1.58}$				
$\phi_x$ Taylor coefficient on output gap	0.00 * (0.24)	$0.00 \ *$ $_{(1.39)}$				
$\rho_i$ Policy inertia	$\underset{(0.17)}{0.53}$	$\underset{(0.29)}{0.36}$				
$\lambda$ Central bank credibility	$0.00 \ *$	${1.00}_{(0.35)}^{*}$				
Distance function	117.68	70.82				

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. Stars indicate that the estimated coefficient is equal to one of the bounds.

## 4.2 Variable desired mark-ups

Rotemberg and Woodford (1996) argued that another effect was at work behind the size of the observed effects of oil price shocks in the 1970s, namely, an endogenous increase in the firms' mark-ups leading to a larger decrease in output. We capture this idea by specifying the desired mark-up as a function of the real price of oil s. As shown in Appendix E, this assumption modifies domestic inflation (9), which now contains an additive cost push shock:

$$\widehat{\pi}_{q,t} = \beta \widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1}^e - \lambda_p \widehat{\mu}_t + \lambda_p \frac{\phi_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon - 1} \widehat{s}_t$$
(25)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>The derivation of the welfare relevant output gap under the Leontief technology is presented in Appendix C.

where  $\phi_{\varepsilon} \in [0, 1)$  is a measure of the sensitivity of the desired mark-up to changes in the real price of oil. Table 3 reports the results and points to a value of  $\phi_{\varepsilon}$  that is positive and in the neighbourhood of 0.4 in the first sample and 0.1 in the second. (To give a sense of magnitude, if  $\phi_{\varepsilon} = 0.4$ , an increase in the price of oil of 10 per cent leads to an increase in the desired mark-up of 0.8 percentage points).

The model now explains the difference between the two samples through a decrease in the response of the mark-up rather than through an increase in the credibility of the central bank. The other conclusions are unchanged. In the pre-1984 sample the effects of the oil shocks were amplified by the high degree of real wage rigidities. As in the benchmark, nominal price rigidities are lower in the post-1984 sample.

Table 3					
Variable desired mark-ups					
	Pre-1984	Post-1984			
$ \phi_e \  \   \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Sensitivity of the desired mark-up} \\ \mbox{to changes in the price of oil} \end{array} $	$\underset{(0.24)}{0.36}$	$\underset{(0.11)}{0.06}$			
$\sigma$ Risk aversion	1.01 (1.21)	$\underset{(0.83)}{0.33}$			
$\gamma$ Real wage rigidity	$\underset{(0.23)}{0.96}$	0.00* (0.25)			
$\theta$ Price stickiness	$\underset{(0.06)}{0.94}$	$\underset{(0.14)}{0.64}$			
$\phi_\pi$ Taylor coefficient on inflation	1.23 (1.46)	$\underset{(0.99)}{1.33}$			
$\phi_x$ Taylor coefficient on output gap	0.00* (0.79)	$\underset{(0.71)}{0.03}$			
$\rho_i$ Policy inertia	$\underset{(0.09)}{0.51}$	$\underset{(0.17)}{0.71}$			
$\lambda$ Central bank credibility	$1.00^{*}_{(0.24)}$	$1.00*$ $_{(0.34)}$			
Distance function	114.96	70.60			

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses. Stars indicate that the estimated coefficient is equal to one of the bounds.

# 5 Concluding remarks

Our main conclusion is that two major changes have taken place in the US economy since the 1970s. The first is a large decrease, indeed the apparent disappearance, of real wage rigidities. The second is a substantial increase in the credibility of monetary policy and the anchoring of inflation expectations. If these conclusions are correct, they have implications both for the effects of other shocks and for the conduct of policy. For example, lower real wage rigidities, higher credibility of policy and - another result from the estimation - lower nominal rigidities, all imply a much more favourable policy trade-off with respect to demand shocks and thus provide a potential explanation for the period known as the Great Moderation.

As an illustration, Figure 7 shows the effects of a monetary policy shock - defined as a 1 per cent increase in the policy rate, decaying at rate 0.5 over time - implied by our estimates for each of the two samples. The implications appear largely consistent with the conclusions from studies that have focused directly on the response to such shocks (Gertler and Lown 1999, Barth and Ramey 2001, Boivin and Giannoni 2002, and especially Boivin and Giannoni 2006, who follow an approach largely similar to ours, but focused on the IRF to a monetary, rather than an oil, shock), namely, a large decrease in the effect of the shock on output and employment. Extending the estimation to integrate the information from the two IRFs is obviously the natural next step on the research agenda.<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>This is subject to our earlier caveat and our justification for focusing only on the IRF to an oil price in this paper. We believe that oil price shocks are more easily identified than demand shocks. At the same time, different shocks are likely to be more or less helpful in identifying different parts of the parameter space. Studying the effects of an oil price shock may be more revealing about real wage rigidities. Studying the effects of a demand shock may be more revealing about the interest rate rule used by the central bank.

#### Appendix A

Our VAR makes use of data on the real price of oil, three inflation measures (CPI, GDP deflator and wages), two quantities (GDP and employment) and the federal funds rate. Variables enter in rates of change, measured as quarter to quarter, in quarterly terms. The estimated responses are accumulated and shown in levels in Figure 1. The federal funds rate is taken from the Board of Governors of the Federal System. The other data are drawn from the USECON database. Wage refers to non-farm business compensation per hour.

As in BG, the break date chosen corresponds roughly to the onset of the Great Moderation in the US as identified by several authors (e.g. McConnell and Perez-Quiros 2000).<sup>18</sup> Each subsample contains two large oil price shock episodes, starting in 1973, 1979, 1999 and 2002.

Each equation in our VAR includes four lags of the seven variables above, a constant term and a quadratic trend fitted measure of productivity growth.

As stressed by BG, the large changes in the price of oil are likely to lead to small sample bias when estimating the oil price equation: the best OLS fit is achieved by reducing the size of these particular residuals, thus by spuriously linking these very large realizations to movements in current or past values of the other variables in the regression. This in turn overstates the endogenous component of the price of oil, and understates the size of the true residuals (BG, page 390). As in BG, in order to deal with this issue we exclude oil price changes larger than three standard deviation when estimating the oil price equation.

Table 4 sheds light on the importance of oil shocks in accounting for the observed fluctuations in the US. The estimated standard deviations of the oil-driven component of the different variables show that the relevance of oil shocks as a source of fluctuations has diminished considerably, except for the real price of oil itself.

The ratio of the conditional to the unconditional standard deviation documents that the percentage contribution of oil shocks to the volatility of quantity variables and of the federal funds rate has remained roughly unchanged over time. The relative contribution of oil shocks to movements in the GDP deflator and nominal wage has declined, whereas the relative contribution to fluctuations in the CPI has increased. As highlighted by BG, the latter result is consistent with a relatively stable core CPI, with oil price changes being passed through to the energy component of the CPI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Nakov and Pescatori (2010) explore the coincidence in time between the break in the oil pricebusiness cycle relationship and the beginning of the Great Moderation and find that oil related effects explain around a third of the reduced macroeconomic volatility.

The contribution of oil Shocks to economic fluctuations						
	Conditional standard deviation			Conditional SD Unconditional SD		
	1960:1-1983:4	1984:1-2007:4	Ratio	1960:1-1983:4	1984:1-2007:4	
Oil price (real)	12.62	14.85	1.18	0.80	0.85	
СРІ	0.56	0.34	0.61	0.33	0.55	
GDP deflator	0.49	0.09	0.18	0.46	0.23	
Nominal wage	0.47	0.22	0.47	0.44	0.21	
GDP	0.41	0.23	0.56	0.24	0.25	
Employment	0.61	0.41	0.67	0.33	0.28	
Federal funds rate	0.11	0.08	0.73	0.23	0.28	

Table 4.

#### Appendix B

We assume a continuum of infinitely-lived households, indexed by j. They seek to maximize:

$$E_{0} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^{t} \left\{ U \left( C_{t} \left( j \right), C_{t-1} \right) - V \left( N_{t} \left( j \right) \right) \right\}$$
(26)

where  $C_t \equiv \chi^{-\chi} (1-\chi)^{-(1-\chi)} C_{m,t}^{\chi} C_{q,t}^{1-\chi}$  and where  $C_{m,t}$  denotes consumption of (imported) oil,  $C_{q,t}$  is a CES index of domestic goods,  $N_t$  denotes employment or hours worked and  $\chi$  is the equilibrium share of oil in consumption. Households are concerned with "catching up with the Joneses": there is a certain degree of external habit persistence, indexed by the parameter  $h \in [0,1)$ ;  $C_{t-1}$  is the aggregate consumption level in period t-1. We assume:

$$U(C_{t}(j), C_{t-1}) \equiv \frac{(C_{t}(j) - hC_{t-1})^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma}$$
(27)

$$V(N_t(j)) \equiv \frac{N_t^{1+\phi}(j)}{1+\phi}$$
(28)

The period budget constraint is given by:

$$P_{q,t}C_{q,t}(j) + P_{m,t}C_{m,t}(j) + Q_t^B B_t(j) = B_{t-1}(j) + W_t N_t(j) + \Pi_t$$
(29)

where  $P_{q,t} \equiv \left(\int_0^1 P_{q,t}(i)^{1-\epsilon} di\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\epsilon}}$  is a price index for domestic goods,  $P_{m,t}$  is the price of oil (in domestic currency),  $W_t$  is the nominal wage and  $\Pi_t$  are profits.  $Q_t^B$  is the price

of a one-period nominally riskless domestic bond, paying one unit of domestic currency.  $B_t$  denotes the quantity of that bond purchased in period t. The optimal allocation of expenditures between imported and domestically produced good implies:

$$P_{q,t}C_{q,t} = (1 - \chi) P_{c,t}C_t$$
(30)

$$P_{m,t}C_{m,t} = \chi P_{c,t}C_t \tag{31}$$

where  $P_{c,t} \equiv P_{m,t}^{\chi} P_{q,t}^{1-\chi}$  is the CPI index. The first order conditions associated with the household problem are:

$$(C_t - hC_{t-1})^{-\sigma} = \beta E_t \left\{ \frac{P_{c,t}}{Q_t^B P_{c,t+1}} \left( C_{t+1} - hC_t \right)^{-\sigma} \right\}$$
(32)

$$\frac{W_t}{P_{c,t}} = N_t^{\phi} \left[ C_t - h C_{t-1} \right]^{\sigma}$$
(33)

Log-linearizing equation 32 yields equation 4. Log-linearizing equation 33 and assuming a slow adjustment of wages to labour market conditions yields equation 5.

#### Appendix C

#### Derivation of the welfare relevant output gap under the Cobb Douglas technology

We derive the efficient allocation by assuming perfect competition in goods and labour markets. In this case we have, on the firms' side:

$$(1 - \alpha_m) \left( \hat{w}_t - \hat{p}_{c,t} \right) + (\alpha_m + (1 - \alpha_m)\chi) \,\hat{s}_t + (1 - \alpha_n - \alpha_m) \,\hat{n}_t = 0 \tag{34}$$

and on the consumer-workers' side:

$$\widehat{w}_t - \widehat{p}_{c,t} = \phi \widehat{n}_t + \frac{\sigma}{1-h} \left[ \widehat{c}_t - h \widehat{c}_{t-1} \right]$$
(35)

After substituting the aggregate resource constraint  $\hat{c}_t = \hat{q}_t - \chi \hat{s}_t$ , we combine both equations:

$$(1 - \alpha_m) \left\{ \phi \widehat{n}_t + \frac{\sigma}{1 - h} \left[ \widehat{q}_t - \chi \widehat{s}_t - h \widehat{q}_{t-1} + \chi h \widehat{s}_{t-1} \right] \right\} + (\alpha_m + (1 - \alpha_m)\chi) \ \widehat{s}_t + (1 - \alpha_n - \alpha_m) \ \widehat{n}_t = 0$$

$$(36)$$

Using the reduced-form production function  $\hat{q}_t = \frac{1}{1-\alpha_m} (\alpha_n \hat{n}_t - \alpha_m \hat{s}_t)$  and after rearranging terms one yields the following expression for the first-best employment  $\hat{n}_t^f$ :

$$\widehat{n}_{t}^{f} = \frac{\frac{\alpha_{n}\sigma\frac{h}{1-h}}{\phi(1-\alpha_{m})+\alpha_{n}\frac{\sigma}{1-h}+(1-\alpha_{n}-\alpha_{m})}}{\frac{[\alpha_{m}+(1-\alpha_{m})\chi]\left(1-\frac{\sigma}{1-h}\right)}{\phi(1-\alpha_{m})+\alpha_{n}\frac{\sigma}{1-h}+(1-\alpha_{n}-\alpha_{m})}}\widehat{s}_{t} - \frac{\sigma\frac{h}{1-h}[\alpha_{m}+\chi(1-\alpha_{m})]}{\phi(1-\alpha_{m})+\alpha_{n}\frac{\sigma}{1-h}+(1-\alpha_{n}-\alpha_{m})}}\widehat{s}_{t-1}$$
(37)

Given first-best employment, first-best value added, denoted by  $\widehat{y}_t^f$ , is given by:

$$\widehat{y}_t^f = \frac{\alpha_n}{1 - \alpha_m} \, \widehat{n}_t^f \tag{38}$$

Thus we can write the welfare relevant output gap as follows:

$$\widehat{x}_{t}^{f} = \widehat{y}_{t} - \frac{\alpha_{n}\sigma\frac{h}{1-h}}{\phi(1-\alpha_{m})+\alpha_{n}\frac{\sigma}{1-h}+(1-\alpha_{n}-\alpha_{m})}\widehat{y}_{t-1}^{f} + \frac{[\alpha_{m}+(1-\alpha_{m})\chi]\left(1-\frac{\sigma}{1-h}\right)}{\phi(1-\alpha_{m})+\alpha_{n}\frac{\sigma}{1-h}+(1-\alpha_{n}-\alpha_{m})}\frac{\alpha_{n}}{1-\alpha_{m}}\widehat{s}_{t} + \frac{\sigma\frac{h}{1-h}[\alpha_{m}+\chi(1-\alpha_{m})]}{\phi(1-\alpha_{m})+\alpha_{n}\frac{\sigma}{1-h}+(1-\alpha_{n}-\alpha_{m})}\frac{\alpha_{n}}{1-\alpha_{m}}\widehat{s}_{t-1}$$

$$(39)$$

#### Derivation of the welfare relevant output gap under the Leontief technology

When production is characterized by a Leontief technology in labour and oil, on the firms' side we have:

$$\alpha_n \left( \widehat{w}_t - \widehat{p}_{c,t} \right) + \left( \chi \alpha_n + \alpha_m \right) \ \widehat{s}_t = 0 \tag{40}$$

where we have used (3) to substitute for  $\hat{p}_{c,t}$ . Labour supply is still given by (35). Using the aggregate resource constraint  $\hat{c}_t = \hat{q}_t - \left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_m}{\mathcal{M} - \alpha_m}\right)\hat{s}_t$  and taking into account that the Leontief specification of technology implies  $\hat{q}_t = \hat{n}_t = \hat{y}_t$ , we can rewrite the supply wage as follows:

$$\widehat{w}_{t} - \widehat{p}_{c,t} = \left(\phi + \frac{\sigma}{1-h}\right)\widehat{y}_{t} - \left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_{m}}{\mathcal{M} - \alpha_{m}}\right)\frac{\sigma}{1-h}\widehat{s}_{t} + -h\frac{\sigma}{1-h}\widehat{y}_{t-1} + h\frac{\sigma}{1-h}\left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_{m}}{\mathcal{M} - \alpha_{m}}\right)\widehat{s}_{t-1}$$

$$\tag{41}$$

Combining the previous equation with (40) we get that the first-best value added is given by:

$$\widehat{y}_{t}^{f} = -\frac{\left(\chi\alpha_{n} + \alpha_{m}\right) - \left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_{m}}{\mathcal{M} - \alpha_{m}}\right)\frac{\sigma}{1 - h}\alpha_{n}}{\left(\phi + \frac{\sigma}{1 - h}\right)\alpha_{n}}\widehat{s}_{t} + \frac{\sigma\alpha_{n}\frac{h}{1 - h}}{\left(\phi + \frac{\sigma}{1 - h}\right)\alpha_{n}}\widehat{y}_{t-1}^{f} - \frac{\alpha_{n}\sigma\frac{h}{1 - h}\left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_{m}}{\mathcal{M} - \alpha_{m}}\right)}{\left(\phi + \frac{\sigma}{1 - h}\right)\alpha_{n}}\widehat{s}_{t-1}$$

and we can write the welfare relevant output gap as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{x}_{t}^{f} &= \widehat{y}_{t} - \frac{\sigma \alpha_{n} \frac{h}{1-h}}{\left(\phi + \frac{\sigma}{1-h}\right) \alpha_{n}} \widehat{y}_{t-1}^{f} + \\ &+ \frac{(\chi \alpha_{n} + \alpha_{m}) - \left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_{m}}{\mathcal{M} - \alpha_{m}}\right) \frac{\sigma}{1-h} \alpha_{n}}{\left(\phi + \frac{\sigma}{1-h}\right) \alpha_{n}} \widehat{s}_{t} + \frac{\alpha_{n} \sigma \frac{h}{1-h} \left(\chi + \frac{\alpha_{m}}{\mathcal{M} - \alpha_{m}}\right)}{\left(\phi + \frac{\sigma}{1-h}\right) \alpha_{n}} \widehat{s}_{t-1} \end{aligned}$$

#### Appendix D

## Derivation of the Phillips Curve representation in terms of the gap between actual and natural level of output

Combining the wage schedule with the efficient price frontier we get:

$$-\widehat{\mu}_{t} + \gamma \widehat{\mu}_{t-1} = (1 - \alpha_{m}) (1 - \gamma) \left\{ \phi \widehat{n}_{t} + \frac{\sigma}{1 - h} [\widehat{c}_{t} - h \widehat{c}_{t-1}] \right\} + (\alpha_{m} + (1 - \alpha_{m})\chi) \widehat{s}_{t} - \gamma (\alpha_{m} + (1 - \alpha_{m})\chi) \widehat{s}_{t-1} + (1 - \alpha_{n} - \alpha_{m}) \widehat{n}_{t} - \gamma (1 - \alpha_{n} - \alpha_{m}) \widehat{n}_{t-1}$$

$$(42)$$

which can be combined with the aggregate resource constraint to yield:

$$-\widehat{\mu}_t = -\Gamma_q \widehat{\mu}_{t-1} + \Gamma_x \widehat{n}_t - \Gamma_{xl} \widehat{n}_{t-1} + \Gamma_s \widehat{s}_t + \Gamma_{sl} \widehat{s}_{t-1}$$
(43)

where we have defined  $\Gamma_q \equiv \frac{[\gamma(1-h)+h(1-\gamma)\sigma(\eta(1-\alpha_m)-\alpha_m)]}{[(1-h)+(1-\gamma)\sigma(\eta(1-\alpha_m)-\alpha_m)]}$ ,

$$\Gamma_{x} \equiv \frac{[(1-\alpha_{n}-\alpha_{m})(1-h)+\phi(1-\alpha_{m})(1-\gamma)(1-h)+((1-\gamma)\sigma\alpha_{n}]}{[1-h+(1-\gamma)\sigma(\eta(1-\alpha_{m})-\alpha_{m})]}, \\ \Gamma_{x} \equiv \frac{[(\alpha_{m}+(1-\alpha_{m})\chi)(1-h-(1-\gamma)\sigma)]}{[1-h+(1-\gamma)\sigma(\eta(1-\alpha_{m})-\alpha_{m})]}, \\ \Gamma_{s} \equiv \frac{[(\alpha_{m}+(1-\alpha_{m})\chi)(1-h-(1-\gamma)\sigma)]}{[1-h+(1-\gamma)\sigma(\eta(1-\alpha_{m})-\alpha_{m})]}, \\ \Gamma_{s} \equiv \frac{[(\alpha_{m}+(1-\alpha_{m})\chi)(1-h-(1-\gamma)\sigma)]}{[1-h+(1-\gamma)\sigma(\eta(1-\alpha_{m})-\alpha_{m})]}, \\ \Gamma_{s} \equiv \frac{[(\alpha_{m}+(1-\alpha_{m})\chi)(1-h-(1-\gamma)\sigma)]}{[1-h+(1-\gamma)\sigma(\eta(1-\alpha_{m})-\alpha_{m})]}.$$

The natural level of employment is defined as the level which is obtained in the absence of nominal rigidities. Accordingly, we can write:

$$\widehat{n}_{t}^{natural} = \frac{\Gamma_{xl}}{\Gamma_{x}} \widehat{n}_{t-1}^{natural} - \frac{\Gamma_{s}}{\Gamma_{x}} \widehat{s}_{t} - \frac{\Gamma_{sl}}{\Gamma_{x}} \widehat{s}_{t-1}$$
(44)

Note that equation (44) corresponds to equation (17) in the main text. Indeed,  $\Gamma_1 = -\frac{\Gamma_s}{\Gamma_x}$ ,  $\Gamma_2 = -\frac{\Gamma_{sl}}{\Gamma_x}$ ,  $\Gamma_3 = \frac{\Gamma_{sl}}{\Gamma_x}$ .

We define the output gap as the wedge between the actual and the natural level of output:

$$\widehat{x}_t^n \equiv \widehat{y}_t - \widehat{y}_t^{natural} = \frac{\alpha_n}{1 - \alpha_m} \left( \widehat{n}_t - \widehat{n}_t^{natural} \right) \tag{45}$$

By plugging (43) into equation (9), we get:

$$\widehat{\pi}_{q,t}\left[1-\Gamma_{q}L\right] = \beta\left[1-\Gamma_{q}L\right]\widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1}^{e} + \lambda_{p}\left\{\Gamma_{x}\widehat{n}_{t}-\Gamma_{xl}\widehat{n}_{t-1}+\Gamma_{s}\widehat{s}_{t}+\Gamma_{sl}\widehat{s}_{t-1}\right\}$$
(46)

Finally, we combine the previous equation for domestic inflation with the equation for expected inflation (15) and we use (44) and (45) to rewrite the Phillips curve in terms of the output gap:

$$\widehat{\pi}_{q,t} = \Gamma_q \widehat{\pi}_{q,t-1} + \frac{\lambda\beta}{[1-(1-\lambda)\beta]} \left[ E_t \widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1} - \Gamma_q E_{t-1} \widehat{\pi}_{q,t} \right] + \frac{\lambda_p}{[1-(1-\lambda)\beta]} \frac{\alpha_n}{1-\alpha_m} \left\{ \Gamma_x \widehat{x}_t^n - \Gamma_{xl} \widehat{x}_{t-1}^n \right\}$$
(47)

## Appendix E Derivation of the Phillips Curve with variable desired mark-ups

A firm re-optimizing in period t will choose the price  $P_{q,t}^*$  solving the following problem:

$$\max_{P_{q,t}^{*}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \theta^{k} E_{t} \left\{ \Lambda_{t,t+k} \left[ P_{q,t}^{*} Q_{t+k/t} - \Psi_{t+k} \left( Q_{t+k/t} \right) \right] \right\}$$

subject to the sequence of demand constraints

$$Q_{t+k/t} = \left(\frac{P_{q,t}^*}{P_{q,t+k}}\right)^{-\varepsilon_{t+k}} C_{t+k}^q$$

where  $\Lambda_{t,t+k} \equiv \beta^k \left(\frac{C_{t+k}^q - hC_{t+k-1}^q}{C_t^q - hC_{t-1}^q}\right)^{-\sigma} \left(\frac{P_{q,t}}{P_{q,t+k}}\right)$  is the stochastic discount factor;  $\Psi_t(\cdot)$  is the cost function;  $Q_{t+k/t}$  is the level of output in period t + k for a firm whose price was last set in period t;  $\varepsilon_{t+k}$  is a stochastic parameter which determines the variable desired markup in the goods market.

We obtain the first order condition:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \theta^k E_t \Lambda_{t,t+k} \left[ \left(1 - \varepsilon_{t+k}\right) \frac{C_{t+k}^q}{P_{q,t+k}^{-\varepsilon_{t+k}}} \left(P_{q,t}^*\right)^{-\varepsilon_{t+k}} + \varepsilon_{t+k} \psi_{t+k/t} \frac{C_{t+k}^q}{P_{q,t+k}^{-\varepsilon_{t+k}}} \left(P_{q,t}^*\right)^{-\varepsilon_{t+k}-1} \right] = 0 \quad (48)$$

or equivalently:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \theta^k E_t \Lambda_{t,t+k} Q_{t+k/t} \left[ \left( \varepsilon_{t+k} - 1 \right) P_{q,t}^* - \varepsilon_{t+k} M C_{t+k/t} P_{q,t+k} \right] = 0$$
(49)

where  $\psi_{t+k/t} \equiv \Psi'_{t+k} \left( Q_{t+k/t} \right)$  and  $MC_{t+k/t} \equiv \frac{\psi_{t+k/t}}{P_{q,t+k}}$  are respectively the nominal and the real marginal cost in period t+k for a firm that last reset its price in period t. Log-linearizing around a zero inflation steady state yields:

$$\widehat{p}_{q,t}^* = (1 - \theta\beta) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \theta^k \beta^k \left[ \widehat{p}_{q,t+k} - \frac{\widehat{\varepsilon}_{t+k}}{\varepsilon - 1} + \widehat{mc}_{t+k/t} \right]$$
(50)

Taking into account the aggregate price index:

$$P_{q,t}^{1-\varepsilon_t} = \theta P_{q,t-1}^{1-\varepsilon_t} + (1-\theta) \left(P_{q,t}^*\right)^{1-\varepsilon_t}$$
(51)

we get the following domestic inflation, where the variable desired mark-up operates as a cost push shock:

$$\widehat{\pi}_{q,t} = \beta \ E_t \{ \widehat{\pi}_{q,t+1} \} - \lambda_p \left( \widehat{\mu}_t + \frac{1}{\varepsilon - 1} \widehat{\varepsilon}_t \right)$$
(52)

Assuming that  $\hat{\varepsilon}_t = -\phi_{\varepsilon} \hat{s}_t$  yields equation 25.

# References

- [1] Andrews, Donald W. K. (2000). "Inconsistency of the bootstrap when a parameter is on the boundary of the parameter space," *Econometrica*, 68(2), 399-405.
- [2] Barsky Robert B. and Lutz Kilian (2001). "Do We really Know that Oil Caused the Great Stagflation? A Monetary Alternative," NBER Chapters, in: NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2001, 16, 137-198 National Bureau of Economic Research Inc.
- [3] Barth, Marvin J., and Valerie A. Ramey (2001). "The Cost Channel of Monetary Transmission," NBER Chapters, in: NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2001, (16), 199-256
- [4] Benati, Luca and Paolo Surico (2008). "Evolving U.S. Monetary Policy and The Decline of Inflation Predictability", *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 6, 634-646.
- [5] Blanchard, Olivier J. and Charles M. Kahn (1980). "The Solution of Linear Difference Models under Rational Expectations," *Econometrica*, 48, 1305-1311.
- [6] Blanchard, Olivier J. and Jordi Gali (2007). "Real Wage Rigidities and the New Keynesian Model" Journal of Money, Credit and Banking vol. 39(s1), pages 35-65, 02

- [7] Blanchard, Olivier J. and Jordi Gali (2009). "The Macroeconomic Effects of Oil Shocks: Why are the 2000s So Different from the 1970s?" NBER Chapters, in: International Dimensions of Monetary Policy, 373-421, National Bureau of Economic Research Inch.
- [8] Boivin, Jean and Marc P. Giannoni (2002). "Assessing Changes in the Monetary Transmission Mechanism: A VAR Approach," *Federal Reserve Bank of New York Economic Policy Review*, 8(1), 97–112
- [9] Boivin, Jean and Mark P. Giannoni (2006). "Has Monetary Policy Become More Effective?", *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 88(3): 445-462.
- [10] Bruno, Michael and Jeffrey Sachs (1985). Economics of worldwide stagflation, Harvard University Press, Cambridge MA.
- [11] Calvo, Guillermo (1983). "Staggered Prices in a Utility Maximizing Framework," Journal of Monetary Economics, 12, 383-398.
- [12] Canova, Fabio and Luca Sala (2009). "Back to square one: Identification issues in DSGE models", Journal of Monetary Economics, 56, 431 - 449.
- [13] Christiano, Lawrence, Martin Eichenbaum and Charles Evans (2005). "Nominal Rigidities and the Dynamic Effects of a Shock to Monetary Policy", *Journal of Political Economy*, 113, 1-45.
- [14] Clarida, Richard, Jordi Gali and Mark Gertler (2000). "Monetary Policy Rules and Macroeconomic Stability: Evidence and Some Theory," *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 115(1), 147-80.
- [15] Cogley, Timothy, Giorgio E. Primiceri and Thomas J. Sargent (2010). "Inflation-Gap Persistence in the U.S.," American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics 2(1), 43-69.
- [16] Erceg, Christopher J. and Andrew T. Levin (2003). "Imperfect Credibility and Inflation Persistence", Journal of Monetary Economics 50, 915–944
- [17] Gertler, Mark, and Cara S. Lown (1999). "The Information in the High-Yield Bond Spread for the Business Cycle: Evidence and Some Implications," Oxford Review of Economic Policy 15(3), 132-50.

- [18] Gertler, Mark, Luca Sala and Antonella Trigari (2008). "An Estimated Monetary DSGE Model with Unemployment and Staggered Nominal Wage Bargaining", Journal of Money, Credit and Banking vol. 40(8), 1713-1764.
- [19] Gurkaynak, Refet S., Brian Sack and Eric Swanson (2005). "The Sensitivity of Long-Term Interest Rates to Economic News: Evidence and Implications for Macroeconomic Models", American Economic Review, 95(1), 425-436.
- [20] Gurkaynak, Refet S., Andrew Levin and Eric Swanson (2010). "Does Inflation Targeting Anchor Long-Run Inflation Expectations? Evidence from the U.S., U.K. and Sweden", Journal of the European Economic Association, 8 (6), 1208-1242.
- [21] Hamilton, James D. (1983). "Oil and the Macroeconomy Since World War II," Journal of Political Economy, 91 (2), 228-248.
- [22] Hamilton, James D. (1985). "Historical Causes of Postwar Oil Shocks and Recessions," *Energy Journal*, 6, 97-116.
- [23] Hamilton, James D. (1996). "This Is What Happened to the Oil Price-Macroeconomy Relationship," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, October 1996, 38(2), 215-20.
- [24] Hamilton, James D. (2003). "What is an oil shock", Journal of Econometrics, 113(2), 363-98.
- [25] Kilian, Lutz (2009). "Not All Oil Price Shocks Are Alike: Disentangling Demand and Supply Shocks in the Crude Oil Market", American Economic Review, 99(3), 1053–69.
- [26] Kuester, Keith (2010). "Real Price and Wage Rigidities with Matching Frictions", Journal of Monetary Economics, 57(4), 466-477.
- [27] Lippi, Francesco and Andrea Nobili (2011). "Oil and the Macroeconomy: A quantitative structural analysis", *Journal of the European Economic Association*, forthcoming.
- [28] Mork, Knut A. (1989). "Oil and the Macroeconomy When Prices Go Up and Down: An Extension of Hamilton's Results," *Journal of Political Economy*, 91, 740-744.
- [29] Pagan, Adrian (2007). "Estimation Methods for Interpretative Models", University of Sydney.

- [30] Primiceri, Giorgio, Ernst Schaumburg and Andrea Tambalotti (2006). "Intertemporal Disturbances", NBER Working Paper W12243.
- [31] Rotemberg, Julio and Michael Woodford (1996). "Imperfect Competition and the Effects of Energy Price Increases on Economic Activity," *Journal of Money, Credit* and Banking, 28(4), 549-577.
- [32] Stock, James. H., and Mark W. Watson (2007). "Why Has U.S. Inflation Become Harder to Forecast?," *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking*, 39(1), 3-33.
- [33] Woodford, Michael (2003a) "Optimal Monetary Policy Inertia," Review of Economic Studies 70, 861-886.
- [34] Woodford, Michael (2003b). Interest and Prices: Foundations of a Theory of Monetary Policy, Princeton University Press, 2003.



Figure 1. Impulse responses to a 10 per cent oil price shock

Notes: The VAR is estimated using quarterly data on GDP, employment, the nominal wage, the GDP deflator, the CPI and the real price of oil and the federal funds rate, over two different samples, 1960:1-1983:4 for the first and 1984:1-2007:4 for the second. The upper and lower lines give one-standard deviation bands, obtained through Monte Carlo simulations. The interest rate is expressed on a quarterly basis, corresponding with its appearance in the model.

### Figure 2. Interest rate smoothing and central bank credibility



 $-\bigcirc -\rho_i=0.0 \qquad -\boxdot -\rho_i=0.8$ 

Notes: The remaining parameters are calibrated as follows  $\beta = 0.99$ ,  $\alpha_n = 0.985$ ,  $\alpha_m = 0.015$ ,  $\chi = 0.023$ ,  $\phi = 1$ ,  $\rho_s = 0.999$ ,  $\sigma = 0.1$ ,  $\epsilon = 6$ , h = 0.8,  $\gamma = 0.8$ ,  $\theta = 0.95$ ,  $\phi_{\pi} = 1.2$ ,  $\phi_x = 0.5$ .







Figure 4. The shape of the objective function

Notes: The figure plots the curvature of the (negative of the) distance function. In each panel we vary two parameters at a time within the range shown in the horizontal axes, keeping the other parameters at their true values.

Figure 5. Model-based IRFs of the real interest rate



 $-\boxdot$  - Post-1984 sample

Notes: Model parameters are set at their benchmark estimated values shown in Table 1.

Figure 6. Estimated and implied IRFs. Leontief technology



 $- \bullet -$  SVAR-IRFs - \* - MODEL-IRFs

# Figure 7. IRFs to a 1 per cent monetary policy shock under the benchmark estimated parameters



Notes: The monetary policy shock is assumed to follow a first-order autoregressive process. The autoregressive parameter of the policy shock is set at 0.5. The other parameters are set at their benchmark estimated values shown in Table 1.

#### RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (\*)

- N. 811 Schooling and youth mortality: learning from a mass military exemption, by Piero Cipollone and Alfonso Rosolia (June 2011).
- N. 812 Welfare costs of inflation and the circulation of US currency abroad, by Alessandro Calza and Andrea Zaghini (June 2011).
- N. 813 Legal status of immigrants and criminal behavior: evidence from a natural experiment, by Giovanni Mastrobuoni and Paolo Pinotti (June 2011).
- N. 814 An unexpected crisis? Looking at pricing effectiveness of different banks, by Valerio Vacca (July 2011).
- N. 815 Skills or culture? An analysis of the decision to work by immigrant women in Italy, by Antonio Accetturo and Luigi Infante (July 2011).
- N. 816 Home bias in interbank lending and banks' resolution regimes, by Michele Manna (July 2011).
- N. 817 Macroeconomic determinants of carry trade activity, by Alessio Anzuini and Fabio Fornari (September 2011).
- N. 818 *Leaving home and housing prices. The experience of Italian youth emancipation*, by Francesca Modena and Concetta Rondinelli (September 2011).
- N. 819 The interbank market after the financial turmoil: squeezing liquidity in a "lemons market" or asking liquidity "on tap", by Antonio De Socio (September 2011).
- N. 820 The relationship between the PMI and the Italian index of industrial production and the impact of the latest economic crisis, by Valentina Aprigliano (September 2011).
- N. 821 Inside the sovereign credit default swap market: price discovery, announcements, market behaviour and corporate sector, by Alessandro Carboni (September 2011).
- N. 822 The demand for energy of Italian households, by Ivan Faiella (September 2011).
- N. 823 Sull'ampiezza ottimale delle giurisdizioni locali: il caso delle province italiane, by Guglielmo Barone (September 2011).
- N. 824 *The public-private pay gap: a robust quantile approach*, by Domenico Depalo and Raffaela Giordano (September 2011).
- N. 825 *Evaluating students' evaluations of professors*, by Michele Braga, Marco Paccagnella and Michele Pellizzari (October 2011).
- N. 826 Do interbank customer relationships exist? And how did they function in the crisis? Learning from Italy, by Massimiliano Affinito (October 2011).
- N. 827 Foreign trade, home linkages and the spatial transmission of economic fluctuations in Italy, by Valter Di Giacinto (October 2011).
- N. 828 *Healthcare in Italy: expenditure determinants and regional differentials*, by Maura Francese and Marzia Romanelli (October 2011).
- N. 829 Bank heterogeneity and interest rate setting: what lessons have we learned since Lehman Brothers?, by Leonardo Gambacorta and Paolo Emilio Mistrulli (October 2011).
- N. 830 Structural reforms and macroeconomic performance in the euro area countries: a model-based assessment, by Sandra Gomes, Pascal Jacquinot, Matthias Mohr and Massimiliano Pisani (October 2011).
- N. 831 *Risk measures for autocorrelated hedge fund returns*, by Antonio Di Cesare, Philip A. Stork and Casper G. de Vries (October 2011).

<sup>(\*)</sup> Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- P. ANGELINI, *Liquidity and announcement effects in the euro area*, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, v. 67, 1, pp. 1-20, **TD No. 451 (October 2002).**
- P. ANGELINI, P. DEL GIOVANE, S. SIVIERO and D. TERLIZZESE, *Monetary policy in a monetary union: What role for regional information?*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 4, 3, pp. 1-28, **TD No.** 457 (December 2002).
- F. SCHIVARDI and R. TORRINI, *Identifying the effects of firing restrictions through size-contingent Differences in regulation*, Labour Economics, v. 15, 3, pp. 482-511, **TD No. 504 (June 2004).**
- L. GUISO and M. PAIELLA,, *Risk aversion, wealth and background risk*, Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 6, 6, pp. 1109-1150, **TD No. 483 (September 2003).**
- C. BIANCOTTI, G. D'ALESSIO and A. NERI, *Measurement errors in the Bank of Italy's survey of household income and wealth*, Review of Income and Wealth, v. 54, 3, pp. 466-493, **TD No. 520 (October 2004).**
- S. MOMIGLIANO, J. HENRY and P. HERNÁNDEZ DE COS, The impact of government budget on prices: Evidence from macroeconometric models, Journal of Policy Modelling, v. 30, 1, pp. 123-143 TD No. 523 (October 2004).
- L. GAMBACORTA, *How do banks set interest rates?*, European Economic Review, v. 52, 5, pp. 792-819, **TD No. 542 (February 2005).**
- P. ANGELINI and A. GENERALE, On the evolution of firm size distributions, American Economic Review, v. 98, 1, pp. 426-438, **TD No. 549 (June 2005).**
- R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Distance, bank heterogeneity and entry in local banking markets*, The Journal of Industrial Economics, v. 56, 3, pp. 500-534, No. 557 (June 2005).
- S. DI ADDARIO and E. PATACCHINI, *Wages and the city. Evidence from Italy*, Labour Economics, v.15, 5, pp. 1040-1061, **TD No. 570 (January 2006).**
- S. SCALIA, *Is foreign exchange intervention effective?*, Journal of International Money and Finance, v. 27, 4, pp. 529-546, **TD No. 579 (February 2006).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. TABOGA, Canonical term-structure models with observable factors and the dynamics of bond risk premia, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 40, 7, pp. 1471-88, TD No. 580 (February 2006).
- E. VIVIANO, *Entry regulations and labour market outcomes. Evidence from the Italian retail trade sector*, Labour Economics, v. 15, 6, pp. 1200-1222, **TD No. 594 (May 2006).**
- S. FEDERICO and G. A. MINERVA, Outward FDI and local employment growth in Italy, Review of World Economics, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 144, 2, pp. 295-324, TD No. 613 (February 2007).
- F. BUSETTI and A. HARVEY, *Testing for trend*, Econometric Theory, v. 24, 1, pp. 72-87, **TD No. 614** (February 2007).
- V. CESTARI, P. DEL GIOVANE and C. ROSSI-ARNAUD, Memory for prices and the Euro cash changeover: an analysis for cinema prices in Italy, In P. Del Giovane e R. Sabbatini (eds.), The Euro Inflation and Consumers' Perceptions. Lessons from Italy, Berlin-Heidelberg, Springer, TD No. 619 (February 2007).
- B. H. HALL, F. LOTTI and J. MAIRESSE, Employment, innovation and productivity: evidence from Italian manufacturing microdata, Industrial and Corporate Change, v. 17, 4, pp. 813-839, TD No. 622 (April 2007).
- J. SOUSA and A. ZAGHINI, *Monetary policy shocks in the Euro Area and global liquidity spillovers,* International Journal of Finance and Economics, v.13, 3, pp. 205-218, **TD No. 629 (June 2007).**
- M. DEL GATTO, GIANMARCO I. P. OTTAVIANO and M. PAGNINI, Openness to trade and industry cost dispersion: Evidence from a panel of Italian firms, Journal of Regional Science, v. 48, 1, pp. 97-129, TD No. 635 (June 2007).
- P. DEL GIOVANE, S. FABIANI and R. SABBATINI, What's behind "inflation perceptions"? A survey-based analysis of Italian consumers, in P. Del Giovane e R. Sabbatini (eds.), The Euro Inflation and Consumers' Perceptions. Lessons from Italy, Berlin-Heidelberg, Springer, TD No. 655 (January 2008).
- R. BRONZINI, G. DE BLASIO, G. PELLEGRINI and A. SCOGNAMIGLIO, La valutazione del credito d'imposta per gli investimenti, Rivista di politica economica, v. 98, 4, pp. 79-112, TD No. 661 (April 2008).

- B. BORTOLOTTI, and P. PINOTTI, *Delayed privatization*, Public Choice, v. 136, 3-4, pp. 331-351, **TD No.** 663 (April 2008).
- R. BONCI and F. COLUMBA, *Monetary policy effects: New evidence from the Italian flow of funds*, Applied Economics, v. 40, 21, pp. 2803-2818, **TD No. 678 (June 2008).**
- M. CUCCULELLI, and G. MICUCCI, *Family Succession and firm performance: evidence from Italian family firms*, Journal of Corporate Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 17-31, **TD No. 680 (June 2008).**
- A. SILVESTRINI and D. VEREDAS, *Temporal aggregation of univariate and multivariate time series models: a survey*, Journal of Economic Surveys, v. 22, 3, pp. 458-497, **TD No. 685 (August 2008).**

2009

- F. PANETTA, F. SCHIVARDI and M. SHUM, *Do mergers improve information? Evidence from the loan market*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 41, 4, pp. 673-709, **TD No. 521 (October 2004).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Do workers' remittances reduce the probability of current account reversals?*, World Development, v. 37, 12, pp. 1821-1838, **TD No. 573 (January 2006).**
- P. PAGANO and M. PISANI, *Risk-adjusted forecasts of oil prices*, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 9, 1, Article 24, **TD No. 585 (March 2006).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. SBRACIA, The CAPM and the risk appetite index: theoretical differences, empirical similarities, and implementation problems, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 123-150, TD No. 586 (March 2006).
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and the business cycle*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 5, 4, pp. 393-409, **TD No. 601 (September 2006).**
- S. MAGRI, *The financing of small innovative firms: the Italian case*, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, v. 18, 2, pp. 181-204, **TD No. 640 (September 2007).**
- V. DI GIACINTO and G. MICUCCI, The producer service sector in Italy: long-term growth and its local determinants, Spatial Economic Analysis, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 391-425, TD No. 643 (September 2007).
- F. LORENZO, L. MONTEFORTE and L. SESSA, *The general equilibrium effects of fiscal policy: estimates for the euro area*, Journal of Public Economics, v. 93, 3-4, pp. 559-585, **TD No. 652** (November 2007).
- R. GOLINELLI and S. MOMIGLIANO, *The Cyclical Reaction of Fiscal Policies in the Euro Area. A Critical Survey of Empirical Research*, Fiscal Studies, v. 30, 1, pp. 39-72, **TD No. 654 (January 2008).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, S. FABIANI and R. SABBATINI, What's behind "Inflation Perceptions"? A survey-based analysis of Italian consumers, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, v. 68, 1, pp. 25-52, TD No. 655 (January 2008).
- F. MACCHERONI, M. MARINACCI, A. RUSTICHINI and M. TABOGA, *Portfolio selection with monotone mean*variance preferences, Mathematical Finance, v. 19, 3, pp. 487-521, **TD No. 664 (April 2008).**
- M. AFFINITO and M. PIAZZA, What are borders made of? An analysis of barriers to European banking integration, in P. Alessandrini, M. Fratianni and A. Zazzaro (eds.): The Changing Geography of Banking and Finance, Dordrecht Heidelberg London New York, Springer, TD No. 666 (April 2008).
- A. BRANDOLINI, On applying synthetic indices of multidimensional well-being: health and income inequalities in France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom, in R. Gotoh and P. Dumouchel (eds.), Against Injustice. The New Economics of Amartya Sen, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, TD No. 668 (April 2008).
- G. FERRERO and A. NOBILI, *Futures contract rates as monetary policy forecasts*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 5, 2, pp. 109-145, **TD No. 681 (June 2008).**
- P. CASADIO, M. LO CONTE and A. NERI, Balancing work and family in Italy: the new mothers' employment decisions around childbearing, in T. Addabbo and G. Solinas (eds.), Non-Standard Employment and Qualità of Work, Physica-Verlag. A Sprinter Company, TD No. 684 (August 2008).
- L. ARCIERO, C. BIANCOTTI, L. D'AURIZIO and C. IMPENNA, *Exploring agent-based methods for the analysis* of payment systems: A crisis model for StarLogo TNG, Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation, v. 12, 1, **TD No. 686 (August 2008).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, Nonlinearities in the dynamics of the euro area demand for M1, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 13, 1, pp. 1-19, **TD No. 690 (September 2008).**
- L. FRANCESCO and A. SECCHI, *Technological change and the households' demand for currency*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 56, 2, pp. 222-230, **TD No. 697 (December 2008).**
- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, *Trend inflation, taylor principle, and indeterminacy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 41, 8, pp. 1557-1584, **TD No. 708** (May 2007).

- S. COLAROSSI and A. ZAGHINI, *Gradualism, transparency and the improved operational framework: a look at overnight volatility transmission*, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 151-170, **TD No. 710** (May 2009).
- M. BUGAMELLI, F. SCHIVARDI and R. ZIZZA, *The euro and firm restructuring*, in A. Alesina e F. Giavazzi (eds): Europe and the Euro, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, **TD No. 716 (June 2009).**
- B. HALL, F. LOTTI and J. MAIRESSE, *Innovation and productivity in SMEs: empirical evidence for Italy*, Small Business Economics, v. 33, 1, pp. 13-33, **TD No. 718 (June 2009).**

2010

- A. PRATI and M. SBRACIA, Uncertainty and currency crises: evidence from survey data, Journal of Monetary Economics, v, 57, 6, pp. 668-681, **TD No. 446 (July 2002).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and S. SIVIERO, *The Economic Consequences of Euro Area Modelling Shortcuts*, Applied Economics, v. 42, 19-21, pp. 2399-2415, **TD No. 458 (December 2002).**
- S. MAGRI, *Debt maturity choice of nonpublic Italian firms*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v.42, 2-3, pp. 443-463, **TD No. 574 (January 2006).**
- R. BRONZINI and P. PISELLI, *Determinants of long-run regional productivity with geographical spillovers: the role of R&D, human capital and public infrastructure,* Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 39, 2, pp.187-199, **TD No. 597 (September 2006).**
- E. IOSSA and G. PALUMBO, *Over-optimism and lender liability in the consumer credit market*, Oxford Economic Papers, v. 62, 2, pp. 374-394, **TD No. 598 (September 2006).**
- S. NERI and A. NOBILI, *The transmission of US monetary policy to the euro area*, International Finance, v. 13, 1, pp. 55-78, **TD No. 606 (December 2006).**
- F. ALTISSIMO, R. CRISTADORO, M. FORNI, M. LIPPI and G. VERONESE, New Eurocoin: Tracking Economic Growth in Real Time, Review of Economics and Statistics, v. 92, 4, pp. 1024-1034, TD No. 631 (June 2007).
- A. CIARLONE, P. PISELLI and G. TREBESCHI, *Emerging Markets' Spreads and Global Financial Conditions*, Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions & Money, v. 19, 2, pp. 222-239, **TD No.** 637 (June 2007).
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and taxation*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 34, 11, pp. 2801-2810, **TD No. 649** (November 2007).
- M. IACOVIELLO and S. NERI, *Housing market spillovers: evidence from an estimated DSGE model,* American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, v. 2, 2, pp. 125-164, **TD No. 659 (January 2008).**
- F. BALASSONE, F. MAURA and S. ZOTTERI, Cyclical asymmetry in fiscal variables in the EU, Empirica, TD No. 671, v. 37, 4, pp. 381-402 (June 2008).
- F. D'AMURI, O. GIANMARCO I.P. and P. GIOVANNI, The labor market impact of immigration on the western german labor market in the 1990s, European Economic Review, v. 54, 4, pp. 550-570, TD No. 687 (August 2008).
- A. ACCETTURO, Agglomeration and growth: the effects of commuting costs, Papers in Regional Science, v. 89, 1, pp. 173-190, **TD No. 688 (September 2008).**
- S. NOBILI and G. PALAZZO, *Explaining and forecasting bond risk premiums*, Financial Analysts Journal, v. 66, 4, pp. 67-82, **TD No. 689 (September 2008).**
- A. B. ATKINSON and A. BRANDOLINI, *On analysing the world distribution of income*, World Bank Economic Review, v. 24, 1, pp. 1-37, **TD No. 701 (January 2009).**
- R. CAPPARIELLO and R. ZIZZA, Dropping the Books and Working Off the Books, Labour, v. 24, 2, pp. 139-162, **TD No. 702 (January 2009).**
- C. NICOLETTI and C. RONDINELLI, *The (mis)specification of discrete duration models with unobserved heterogeneity: a Monte Carlo study*, Journal of Econometrics, v. 159, 1, pp. 1-13, **TD No. 705** (March 2009).
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *Macroeconomic effects of greater competition in the service sector: the case of Italy*, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 14, 5, pp. 677-708, **TD No. 706 (March 2009).**
- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Dynamic macroeconomic effects of public capital: evidence from regional Italian data, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 1, pp. 29-66, TD No. 733 (November 2009).
- F. COLUMBA, L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Mutual Guarantee institutions and small business finance*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 1, pp. 45-54, **TD No. 735** (November 2009).

- A. GERALI, S. NERI, L. SESSA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Credit and banking in a DSGE model of the Euro Area,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 42, 6, pp. 107-141, **TD No. 740** (January 2010).
- M. AFFINITO and E. TAGLIAFERRI, *Why do (or did?) banks securitize their loans? Evidence from Italy*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 4, pp. 189-202, **TD No. 741 (January 2010).**
- S. FEDERICO, *Outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad and firm heterogeneity*, Empirica, v. 37, 1, pp. 47-63, **TD No. 742 (February 2010).**
- V. DI GIACINTO, *On vector autoregressive modeling in space and time*, Journal of Geographical Systems, v. 12, 2, pp. 125-154, **TD No. 746 (February 2010).**
- S. MOCETTI and C. PORELLO, *How does immigration affect native internal mobility? new evidence from Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 40, 6, pp. 427-439, **TD No. 748 (March 2010).**
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap spread changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, Journal of Current Issues in Finance, Business and Economics, v. 3, 4, pp., TD No. 749 (March 2010).
- P. CIPOLLONE, P. MONTANARO and P. SESTITO, Value-added measures in Italian high schools: problems and findings, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 2, pp. 81-114, TD No. 754 (March 2010).
- A. BRANDOLINI, S. MAGRI and T. M SMEEDING, Asset-based measurement of poverty, Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, v. 29, 2, pp. 267-284, **TD No. 755** (March 2010).
- G. CAPPELLETTI, A Note on rationalizability and restrictions on beliefs, The B.E. Journal of Theoretical Economics, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-11, **TD No. 757** (April 2010).
- S. DI ADDARIO and D. VURI, Entrepreneurship and market size. the case of young college graduates in Italy, Labour Economics, v. 17, 5, pp. 848-858, **TD No. 775 (September 2010).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, *Sectoral money demand and the great disinflation in the US*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 42, 8, pp. 1663-1678, **TD No. 785 (January 2011).**

#### 2011

- S. DI ADDARIO, *Job search in thick markets*, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 69, 3, pp. 303-318, **TD No.** 605 (December 2006).
- E. CIAPANNA, *Directed matching with endogenous markov probability: clients or competitors?*, The RAND Journal of Economics, v. 42, 1, pp. 92-120, **TD No. 665 (April 2008).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The Macroeconomics of Fiscal Consolidation in a Monetary Union: the Case of Italy*, in Luigi Paganetto (ed.), Recovery after the crisis. Perspectives and policies, VDM Verlag Dr. Muller, **TD No. 747 (March 2010).**
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, in Barbara L. Campos and Janet P. Wilkins (eds.), The Financial Crisis: Issues in Business, Finance and Global Economics, New York, Nova Science Publishers, Inc., TD No. 749 (March 2010).
- G. GRANDE and I. VISCO, A public guarantee of a minimum return to defined contribution pension scheme members, The Journal of Risk, v. 13, 3, pp. 3-43, **TD No. 762 (June 2010).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, G. ERAMO and A. NOBILI, *Disentangling demand and supply in credit developments: a survey-based analysis for Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 10, pp. 2719-2732, **TD No.** 764 (June 2010).
- M. TABOGA, Under/over-valuation of the stock market and cyclically adjusted earnings, International Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 135-164, **TD No. 780 (December 2010).**
- S. NERI, *Housing, consumption and monetary policy: how different are the U.S. and the Euro area?*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v.35, 11, pp. 3019-3041, **TD No. 807 (April 2011).**

#### FORTHCOMING

- M. BUGAMELLI and A. ROSOLIA, *Produttività e concorrenza estera*, Rivista di politica economica, **TD No.** 578 (February 2006).
- G. DE BLASIO and G. NUZZO, *Historical traditions of civicness and local economic development*, Journal of Regional Science, **TD No. 591 (May 2006).**

- F. CINGANO and A. ROSOLIA, *People I know: job search and social networks*, Journal of Labor Economics, **TD No. 600 (September 2006).**
- F. SCHIVARDI and E. VIVIANO, Entry barriers in retail trade, Economic Journal, TD No. 616 (February 2007).
- G. FERRERO, A. NOBILI and P. PASSIGLIA, Assessing excess liquidity in the Euro Area: the role of sectoral distribution of money, Applied Economics, **TD No. 627** (April 2007).
- P. E. MISTRULLI, Assessing financial contagion in the interbank market: maximum entropy versus observed interbank lending patterns, Journal of Banking & Finance, **TD No. 641 (September 2007).**
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA and D. MARQUÉS, *Securitisation and the bank lending channel*, European Economic Review, **TD No. 653 (November 2007).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Output growth volatility and remittances*, Economica, **TD No. 673 (June 2008).**
- V. DI GIACINTO e M. PAGNINI, Local and global agglomeration patterns: two econometrics-based indicators, Regional Science and Urban Economics, **TD No. 674 (June 2008).**
- G. BARONE and F. CINGANO, Service regulation and growth: evidence from OECD countries, Economic Journal, **TD No. 675 (June 2008).**
- S. MOCETTI, *Educational choices and the selection process before and after compulsory school*, Education Economics, **TD No. 691 (September 2008).**
- P. SESTITO and E. VIVIANO, *Reservation wages: explaining some puzzling regional patterns*, Labour, **TD No. 696 (December 2008).**
- P. PINOTTI, M. BIANCHI and P. BUONANNO, *Do immigrants cause crime?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 698 (December 2008).**
- R. GIORDANO and P. TOMMASINO, What determines debt intolerance? The role of political and monetary institutions, European Journal of Political Economy, TD No. 700 (January 2009).
- F. LIPPI and A. NOBILI, *Oil and the macroeconomy: a quantitative structural analysis*, Journal of European Economic Association, **TD No. 704** (March 2009).
- F. CINGANO and P. PINOTTI, *Politicians at work. The private returns and social costs of political connections*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 709 (May 2009).**
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA, and D. MARQUÉS-IBÁÑEZ, *Bank risk and monetary policy*, Journal of Financial Stability, **TD No. 712 (May 2009).**
- P. ANGELINI, A. NOBILI e C. PICILLO, *The interbank market after August 2007: What has changed, and why?*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, **TD No. 731 (October 2009).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Tax morale and public spending inefficiency*, International Tax and Public Finance, **TD No. 732 (November 2009).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The macroeconomics of fiscal consolidations in euro area countries,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, **TD No. 747 (March 2010).**
- G. BARONE, R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Switching costs in local credit markets*, International Journal of Industrial Organization, **TD No. 760 (June 2010).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, With a little help from abroad: the effect of low-skilled immigration on the female labour supply, Labour Economics, **TD No. 766 (July 2010).**
- S. MAGRI and R. PICO, *The rise of risk-based pricing of mortgage interest rates in Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, **TD No. 778 (October 2010).**
- A. ACCETTURO and G. DE BLASIO, *Policies for local development: an evaluation of Italy's "Patti Territoriali"*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, **TD No. 789 (January 2006).**
- E. COCOZZA and P. PISELLI, Testing for east-west contagion in the European banking sector during the financial crisis, in R. Matoušek; D. Stavárek (eds.), Financial Integration in the European Union, Taylor & Francis, TD No. 790 (February 2011).
- S. NERI and T. ROPELE, *Imperfect information, real-time data and monetary policy in the Euro area,* The Economic Journal, **TD No. 802 (March 2011).**